DIVISION TWO
STATE OF WASHINGTON,
Respondent,
V.
LARRY TARRER,
Appellant.
ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR PIERCE COUNTY
The Honorable Katherine M. Stolz, Judge
BRIEF OF APPELLANT

KEVIN A. MARCH Attorney for Appellant

NIELSEN, BROMAN & KOCH, PLLC 1908 E Madison Street Seattle, WA 98122 (206) 623-2373

B. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The trial court erred in twice denying Tarrer's requests for a continuance of the trial date for additional preparation and investigation.
- 2. The trial court erred in failing to provide Tarrer with an impartial tribunal.
- 3. The trial court erred in impermissibly commenting on the evidence before the jury.

- 4. The trial court erred by excluding one of Tarrer's expert witnesses in violation of his constitutional right to present witnesses in his defense.
- 5. The prosecutor committed misconduct during his closing argument by disparaging the defense and misstating and trivializing the beyond-a-reasonable-doubt standard.
 - 6. Tarrer received ineffective assistance of counsel.
 - 7. The accumulation of trial errors deprived Tarrer of a fair trial.

 Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error
- 1. Defense counsel moved to continue the trial date, representing that he needed more time to investigate, interview witnesses, and otherwise prepare for trial. Citing the fact Tarrer had been tried twice before (represented by different counsel), the trial court denied the defense motions. Did the trial court's erroneous denial of the motions to continue deprive Tarrer of prepared and effective counsel?
- 2. The trial court unreasonably denied Tarrer's motions to continue, improperly based other substantive rulings on what transpired during previous trials, prejudged its rulings on motions in limine without reviewing or considering Tarrer's new arguments on those issues, and failed to heed the Court of Appeals reversal for prosecutorial misconduct.

Would a reasonably prudent and disinterested observer conclude that the trial court was a fair and impartial forum for Tarrer?

- 3. The trial court admonished the jury not to commit misconduct out of a concern for the impact on the victims of crime and the State's ability to obtain convictions on the charges. Was this impermissible comment on the evidence?
- 4. The trial court refused to allow a defense expert to testify to his opinion that information contained in medical records was consistent with the victim being shot in the back, thereby contradicting the victim's account that she faced her shooter (and was therefore in a position to see and later identify him as Tarrer). Did exclusion of this expert deprive Tarrer of an opportunity to present his defense?
- 5. In its closing argument, the prosecutor diminished the standard of proof beyond a reasonable doubt and disparaged the defense. Did these instances of misconduct, taken alone or cumulatively, deprive Tarrer of a fair trial?
- 6. Did defense counsel's failure to timely disclose one of its experts and to make appropriate and timely objections regarding prosecutorial misconduct constitute ineffective assistance of counsel?
- 7. Does the cumulative effect of the assigned errors, if the errors do not each themselves warrant reversal, require reversal?

8. Given the trial court's demonstrated bias against Tarrer, must this court order the assignment of a new trial judge on remand?

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. Factual background

On the evening January 8, 1991, several people came and went from Claudia McCorvey's Tillicum apartment. RP 529, 536-39, 567, 573-74, 819, 828-29. McCorvey's apartment served as a hub for using and dealing crack cocaine. RP 663-64, 819, 856-57. McCorvey, who had recently started using crack again, was six months pregnant at the time. RP 530-31, 578.

Bishop Johns, known in the community as "Slim," dealt crack out of McCorvey's apartment that day. RP 532-34, 536, 575, 819, 828-29. Beginning in the afternoon, Johns, Lavern Simpkins, McCorvey, Rickey Owens, and up to 10 others smoked crack or bought crack at the apartment, coming and going, into the early hours of the morning on January 9, 1991. RP 536-39, 567, 573-74, 828-29, 847.

According to McCorvey and Johns, Tarrer was in McCorvey's apartment that night. RP 543-45, 572. By McCorvey's account, Tarrer was drunk and Johns and Tarrer argued over Tarrer's missing drugs. RP 562-64, 604-06, 643-46, 686, 700. Johns and McCorvey were under the impression

that Tarrer believed someone had stolen his drugs. RP 605-06, 688, 703, 871-72.

Owens, who had bought crack out of the apartment earlier that evening, returned in the early morning hours to buy more. RP 732-33, 742, 749. Owens said that when he was leaving the area, he saw a man pull a gun out of an Oldsmobile Cutlass parked outside and walk back toward the apartment complex. RP 742-44, 768-69, 779-80.

At that time, Simpkins and McCorvey were the only people in the apartment. RP 545-46. Someone threw open the front door and shot multiple times into the apartment. RP 549, 649. Two bullets hit Simpkins, one of which perforated her heart and a lung, killing her. RP 419-20, 426, 433. McCorvey, who was also shot twice but survived, suffered a bullet wound to her thoracic spine, paralyzing her from about the belly button down. RP 549, 561. McCorvey claimed she was facing her shooter and saw him as he fired. RP 549, 648-53.

When police and paramedics arrived, McCorvey, still conscious, was taken to Madigan Army Medical Center. RP 228, 241, 250-51, 267-68. Simpkins was found dead. RP 222. Doctors performed an emergency cesarean section on McCorvey, delivering her baby alive. RP 270-73. The baby was weak due to McCorvey's blood loss and died shortly after delivery. RP 274-78.

Police found five .45 caliber shell casings at McCorvey's apartment. RP 312-13, 316, 493, 502. They never found a fifth slug, however. RP 318-19, 375-75. They also found a bottle of Tanqueray gin that had Tarrer's fingerprints on it. RP 347, 351-52, 354-55, 358, 787-92. Owens claimed to have traded the bottle of gin with Tarrer in exchange for crack. RP 733, 740, 772.

McCorvey was transferred from Madigan to Harborview Medical Center in Seattle. RP 556, 558. On January 9, 1991, Detective Fred Reinicke of the Pierce County Sheriff's Office showed McCorvey a photomontage with six photographs, including a photo of Tarrer. RP 564-66, 678, 694, 924-26, 928, 931-32. None of the other people in the montage looked anything like Tarrer. RP 1036-37. McCorvey identified Tarrer as her shooter. RP 565-66, 705, 939.

Reinicke came back to Harborview two days later and showed McCorvey the same photomontage. RP 938-40. McCorvey again identified Tarrer as the shooter. RP 942.

About a month later, Reinicke interviewed Owens and showed Owens the same photomontage. RP 754-55, 976-78. Owens identified Tarrer as the man who had retrieved the gun from his Cutlass. RP 754-55, 976-78.

Shortly thereafter, police located Tarrer in Federal Way and arrested him. RP 945, 949-50, 971-73.

2. Procedural background

In February 1991, the State charged Tarrer with first degree murder for causing the death of Simpkins, first degree attempted murder for attempting to cause the death of McCorvey, and first degree manslaughter for the death of McCorvey's unborn quick child. CP 1-3. In May 1991, the State amended its information to charge murder in the second degree and first degree assault. CP 6-7.

Tarrer entered an Alford¹ plea to second degree felony murder predicated on first degree assault and to assault, and was sentenced to 233 months for the murder and 270 months for the assault. CP 13, 22. The judgment and sentence does not indicate whether these sentences were to be served concurrently or consecutively; however, it is clear from the Court of Appeals ruling affirming Tarrer's convictions and sentences that the sentences, though exceptional, ran concurrently. CP 13, 36. Tarrer began serving his sentences in November 1991. CP 16-17.

In July 2004, Tarrer brought a pro se CrR 7.8 motion to vacate his judgment based on <u>In re Personal Restraint of Andress</u>, 147 Wn.2d 602, 56 P.3d 981 (2002), and <u>In re Personal Restraint of Hinton</u>, 152 Wn.2d 853, 100

¹ North Carolina v. Alford, 400 U.S. 25, 91 S. Ct. 160, 27 L. Ed. 2d 162 (1970).

P.3d 801 (2004), in which the Washington Supreme Court ruled, respectively, that assault could not serve as a predicate felony for second degree felony murder and that <u>Andress</u> applied retroactively. CP 41-43. Pierce County Superior Court denied his motion. CP 59-60. Tarrer appealed, and the Court of Appeals reversed the trial court and remanded for further proceedings. CP 58, 63-66.

On remand, Tarrer's judgment and sentence was vacated; however, Tarrer appealed the trial court's denial of specific performance of his guilty plea. CP 69. The Court of Appeals dismissed Tarrer's appeal because he was not an aggrieved party and again remanded for further proceedings. CP 69-72. The mandate for this appeal was filed in September 2007. CP 67.

In April 2009, the State filed a "Corrected Information" in which it again charged Tarrer with first degree murder, attempted first degree murder, and first degree manslaughter. CP 73-74. In September 2009, the State amended its information to charge aggravating circumstances for the attempted first degree murder charge. CP 76. These circumstances included, (1) "the victim's injuries substantially exceeded the level of bodily harm necessary to satisfy the elements of the offense," (2) "the current offense was a violent offense, and the defendant knew that the victim of the current offense was pregnant," and (3) "the offense involved an invasion of the victim's privacy." CP 76.

Tarrer's case went to trial in September 2009. CP 96. This trial resulted in a mistrial. CP 96. Tarrer was retried in 2010. CP 96. This trial resulted in a conviction on all charges, but the Court of Appeals reversed for prosecutorial misconduct. CP 98-109. The Court of Appeals also considered evidentiary issues likely to recur on remand and ruled that, among other things, the trial court did not abuse its discretion by excluding some of McCorvey's medical records on the basis of hearsay or by admitting Owens's and McCorvey's eyewitness identifications of Tarrer using photomontages. CP 110-14. In addition, the Court of Appeals declined Tarrer's request to reassign his case to a different trial judge on remand. CP

Thereafter, Tarrer's case was remanded for the trial at issue in the instant appeal.

3. Motion for recusal

Before trial, Tarrer moved to recuse the trial judge, claiming she could not be impartial. CP 115-24; RP 8-13. Specifically, Tarrer referenced the trial court's comment during sentencing in the previous trial that "[t]his court is going to do its best to make sure you never get out of prison alive." CP 117. Tarrer argued that the trial court's comment demonstrated its actual bias and also violated the appearance of fairness doctrine. CP 123. The trial court, referencing the Court of Appeals ruling that Tarrer failed to

adequately demonstrate evidence of the trial court's actual or potential bias, denied Tarrer's recusal motion. CP 125-26; RP 10-11; see also CP 114 (portion of Court of Appeals unpublished slip opinion denying Tarrer's request for reassignment).

4. Motions for continuance of trial date

A month before trial, defense counsel moved for a two- to three-month continuance of the trial date. RP 26-27. Defense counsel cited his need to conduct further investigation regarding another possible shooter and interviews of additional defense witnesses. RP 26-27. In addition, defense counsel indicated that he wished to serve a subpoena duces tecum on Harborview—where McCorvey was treated—in search for medical records. RP 26-27.

The State opposed the motion, RP 27-30, and the trial court denied the continuance request, noting, "This case has been pending in front of me since 2008. I've tried it twice already," RP 31. The trial court did not find defense counsel's reasons for a continuance compelling given that the case had already been tried twice. RP 31. In its written order on the continuance, the trial court stated "that the reasons stated during the motion do not justify a further delay of the trial date, particularly when those reasons include issues that were litigated previously in this case" CP 354-55.

Days before trial, defense counsel again moved for a continuance of the trial date. RP 38. Defense counsel indicated that he had had an intervening trial for which he had to prepare, had additional motions to bring, including a motion on the admissibility of eyewitness identification, and was still seeking witness interviews. RP 38-40. The State again opposed the motion, noting that defense counsel had "a distinctive advantage" over previous defense counsel given that he had two sets of transcripts from the previous trials. RP 42. The court again denied the continuance. RP 48.

5. Motions in limine

The trial court adopted most of its rulings in limine from Tarrer's 2009 and 2010 trials. CP 413-18. However, Tarrer moved to limit the State's closing argument, given that the Court of Appeals had reversed on prosecutorial misconduct grounds. CP 127-28; see also CP 99-109 (Court of Appeals' slip opinion discussing various instances of prosecutorial misconduct in 2010 trial). Although the trial court granted many of these motions, it refused to rule that the State could not ask the jury to render a "true verdict" "[s]ince we do instruct" the jury to render a true verdict. CP 432-33; RP 103. The trial court also denied Tarrer's motion to exclude arguments regarding puzzle analogies, allowing the State to use cityscape puzzle analogies in closing argument to discuss the interplay between

circumstantial and direct evidence. CP 433; RP 107. The trial court's denial of these motions in limine directly conflicted with the Court of Appeals' views that puzzle analogies and asking the jury to render a true verdict were prosecutorial misconduct. CP 101-02 & n.6, 104-06.

Tarrer also moved to exclude McCorvey's and Owens's eyewitness identifications because the photomontage procedures employed were unduly suggestive. CP 128-332, 356-407; RP 39-41. Specifically, the defense argued that there was new Washington, United States Supreme Court, and out-of-state case law that altered the suggestibility analysis. CP 356-407; RP 39. The trial court permitted Tarrer to "argue it, again; but you already know how I'm going to rule," given that the Court of Appeals had affirmed the admissibility of the eyewitness identifications in the last appeal. RP 68; see also CP 111-12 (unpublished slip opinion affirming admissibility of eyewitness identification). Later, the court incorporated its prior ruling that there was nothing unduly suggestive. CP 419-22; RP 122.

6. <u>Defense expert witnesses</u>

Although the trial court admitted Owens's and McCorvey's eyewitness identifications, it also allowed Geoffrey Loftus, Ph.D. to testify regarding issues relating to the accuracy and reliability of eyewitness identification. See RP 1090-180 (Loftus testimony). Dr. Loftus's testimony described issues with the accuracy of human perception and memory,

including problems that affect the reliability of eyewitness identifications and photomontage procedures. RP 1093-103, 1104-08, 1116-19, 1121-32.

Tarrer also wished to call Dr. Eric Kiesel, a forensic examiner, to discuss his review of McCorvey's medical records. RP 883. Specifically, defense counsel wished to elicit Dr. Kiesel's expert opinion that the documentation in the medical records was more consistent with McCorvey being shot in the back. RP 883-84, 888. The defense argued that, even though the medical records themselves were inadmissible, Dr. Kiesel should be able to use the data in the medical records to form his opinion, pursuant to ER 703. RP 888.

The trial court refused to allow Dr. Kiesel's testimony because he was not a timely disclosed witness and because "his report really is just an attempt to try to" get inadmissible records into evidence. RP 888-89. In addition, the trial court opined, "we don't have any kind of expert opinion. We just have a lot of blathering on. That's not an expert opinion. The Court is not going to admit it, and I'm not going to back-strap in these medical records." RP 896.

7. Convictions, sentencing, and appeal

The jury found Tarrer guilty of first degree murder, first degree attempted murder, and first degree manslaughter. CP 521-24, 526. The jury also returned a special verdict finding that the attempted murder of

McCorvey involved an invasion of McCorvey's privacy and that McCorvey's injuries substantially exceeded the level of bodily harm necessary to satisfy the elements of the crime. CP 525.

The trial court imposed a total sentence of 896 months. CP 531; RP 1373. The court imposed 416 months on the first degree murder and a consecutive 480-month exceptional sentence on the attempted first degree murder. The trial court also imposed a concurrent term of 120 months for the first degree manslaughter. CP 531.

Tarrer's timely appeal follows. CP 546-58.

D. ARGUMENT

1. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY TWICE DENYING TARRER A CONTINUANCE OF THE TRIAL DATE

The trial court denied defense counsel's request for a continuance because it perceived that any and all issues in the current trial were firmly established in Tarrer's two previous trials. The trial court's conclusion that defense counsel did not require more time to investigate and prepare merely because Tarrer had already been tried twice was an abuse of discretion and deprived Tarrer of effective assistance of counsel. This court must accordingly reverse.

The granting or denial of a motion for continuance is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. <u>State v. Downing</u>, 151 Wn.2d 265, 272, 87 P.3d 1169

(2004). An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court's decision is "manifestly unreasonable or exercised on untenable grounds, for untenable reasons." <u>Id.</u> "In exercising discretion to grant or deny a continuance, trial courts may consider many factors, including surprise, diligence, redundancy, due process, materiality, and maintenance of orderly procedure." <u>Id.</u> at 273.

Though reviewed for an abuse of discretion, the Washington and United States Supreme Courts have recognized "[t]he constitutional right to have the assistance of coun[sel] . . . carries with it a reasonable time for consultation and preparation, and a denial is more than a mere abuse of discretion; it is a denial of due process of law " State v. Hartwig, 36 Wn.2d 598, 601, 219 P.2d 564 (1950); see also Avery v. Alabama, 308 U.S. 444, 446, 60 S. Ct. 321, 84 L. Ed. 377 (1940) ("[T]he denial of opportunity for appointed counsel . . . to prepare his defense, could convert the appointment of counsel into a sham and nothing more than a formal compliance with the Constitution's requirement than an accused be given the assistance of counsel."). "[T]here are no mechanical tests for deciding when the denial of a continuance violates due process, inhibits a defense, or conceivably projects a different result; . . . the answer must be found in the circumstances present in the particular case." State v. Eller, 84 Wn.2d 90, 96, 52 P.2d 242 (1974) (citing State v. Cadena, 74 Wn.2d 185, 189, 443 P.2d 826 (1968), overruled in part on other grounds by State v. Gosby, 85 Wn.2d

758, 767, 539 P.2d 680 (1975)); accord <u>Ungar v. Sarafite</u>, 376 U.S. 575, 589, 84 S. Ct. 841, 11 L. Ed. 2d 921 (1964).

Under the circumstances here, the trial court's denial of Tarrer's motions for continuance deprived Tarrer of the assistance of ready and prepared counsel.

A month before trial, defense counsel moved for a continuance indicating he was in the "middle of doing an investigation" pertaining to a witness who claimed someone besides Tarrer was the shooter and pertaining to witnesses "necessary or at least very helpful for the Defense." RP 26. Defense counsel noted the difficulty in contacting the witnesses given that "this case is such an old case." RP 26. In addition, defense counsel planned to serve a subpoena duces tecum on Harborview for a list of doctors working there in 1991 when McCorvey was treated for gunshot wounds. RP 26-27. Specifically, defense counsel sought a list of doctors who might have treated McCorvey given that the medical records showed "some disagreement about entrance wounds and exit wounds." RP 27. Defense counsel argued that his need to find additional witnesses and further investigate was material to Tarrer's defense: "These witnesses are material. If there is, indeed, another shooter, and it's consistent with the idea that there's problems with whether the wounds are entrance or exit wounds, those are two very big issues " RP 30.

Rather than address defense counsel's asserted need for additional time to investigate, the trial court denied the continuance because Tarrer had already twice been tried:

The Court is going to deny the continuance request. This case has been pending in front of me since 2008. I've tried it twice already The issue of the doctor [from Harborview] that wrote the note has been -- you know, [previous trial counsel] did an extensive search for that individual and could not find them in any state on any medical register which the Court, then, excluded that which was affirmed as a decision by the Court of Appeals.

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