COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, RESPONDENT

v.

LARRY E. TARRER, APPELLANT

Appeal from the Superior Court of Pierce County
The Honorable Kathryn Stolz

No. 91-1-00712-0

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

MARK LINDQUIST Prosecuting Attorney

By THOMAS C. ROBERTS Deputy Prosecuting Attorney WSB # 17442

930 Tacoma Avenue South Room 946 Tacoma, WA 98402 PH: (253) 798-7400

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

A judge's sanction ruling is reviewed for abuse of discretion. *State* v. *Linden*, 89 Wn. App. 184, 189–190, 947 P.2d 1284 (1997), review denied, 136 Wn.2d 1018, 966 P.2d 1277 (1998). There is an abuse of discretion when the trial court's decision is manifestly unreasonable or based upon untenable grounds or reasons, including the misconstruction of a rule. *State v. Brown*, 132 Wn.2d 529, 572, 940 P.2d 546 (1997). The reviewing court may also consider whether a reasonable judge would rule as the trial judge did. *See State v. Vy Thang*, 145 Wn.2d 630, 642, 41 P.3d 1159 (2002).

While sanctions for discovery violations typically do not include exclusion of evidence (*State v. Ray*, 116 Wn.2d 531, 538, 806 P.2d 1220 (1991)), evidence may be excluded when that is the only effective remedy. *Hutchinson*, 135 Wn.2d at 881–883. In order to exclude evidence because of a discovery violation, the court must consider and weigh four factors: (1) the effectiveness of other sanctions; (2) the impact of witness preclusion on the evidence at trial and outcome of the case; (3) the extent to which the prosecution will be surprised or prejudiced by the testimony; (4) whether the violation was willful or in bad faith. *Id.* at 883.

As argued above, the primary reason the trial court did not permit Dr. Kiesel's testimony was because it lacked the proper foundation.

Although the trial court did not specify the *Hutchinson* factors, there is no right to present irrelevant or inadmissible evidence. *Jones*, 168 Wn. 2d at 720. Because the evidence was not admissible, the *Hutchinson* analysis is unnecessary.

c. <u>If error, the ruling was harmless</u>.

Generally, a trial court's determination on the admissibility of evidence does not rise to an issue of constitutional magnitude. *See State v. Gunderson*, -Wn. 2d -, 337 P. 3d 1090, 1095 (2014) (admission of ER 404(b) evidence). Non-constitutional error requires reversal only if, "within reasonable probabilities," the outcome of the proceeding "would have been materially affected had the error not occurred." *State v. Crenshaw*, 98 Wn.2d 789, 800, 659 P.2d 488 (1983) (citing *State v. Tharp*, 96 Wn.2d 591, 637 P.2d 961 (1981)). That is the case here. The trial court was within its discretion to exclude Dr. Kiesel's testimony. This court has previously affirmed that ruing. The issue did not implicate a constitutional right of the defendant.

The proposed testimony was very limited. Even if Dr. Kiesel had testified, he had no basis to opine whether McCorvey had been shot in the front or the back. At most, Dr. Kiesel could testify that emergency room doctors sometimes mischaracterize or misdiagnose whether a gunshot

wound is an entrance or an exit. 6 RP 888. Even if McCorvey had been shot in the back, that did not disprove her testimony that it was the defendant who shot her and Simpkins, nor would it rebut Dr. Howard's testimony that Simpkins was shot in the front. Under the circumstances, the proposed evidence would not have affected the jury's verdict.

Even if the trial court had erred in its balancing of the *Hutchinson* factors, this Court should still affirm. The alleged error was harmless even under the constitutional harmless error standard. Error of constitutional magnitude can be harmless if it is proven to be harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. *Chapman v. California*, 386 U.S. 18, 24, 87 S. Ct. 824, 17 L. Ed. 2d 705 (1967). Any error in excluding the evidence was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

5. THE PROSECUTING ATTORNEY DID NOT COMMIT MISCONDUCT IN CLOSING ARGUMENT.

A defendant claiming prosecutorial misconduct bears the burden of demonstrating that the remarks or conduct was improper and that it prejudiced the defense. *State v. Gentry*, 125 Wn.2d 570, 640, 888 P.2d 570 (1995), citing *State v. Hoffman*, 116 Wn.2d 51, 93, 804 P.2d 577 (1991). A defendant can establish prejudice only if there is a substantial likelihood that the misconduct affected the jury's verdict. *State v. Carver*, 122 Wn. 2d 300, 306, 93 P. 3d 947 (2004).

a. Argument to which the defendant objected.

When reviewing an argument that has been challenged as improper, the court reviews the context of the whole argument, the issues in the case, the evidence addressed in the argument and the instructions given to the jury. *State v. Russell*, 125 Wn.2d 24, 85-6, 882 P.2d 747 (1994). The Court's focus is less on what the prosecutor said; but rather on the effect which was likely to flow from the remarks. *See State v. Emery*, 174 Wn.2d 741, 762, 278 P. 3d 653 (2012). "The criterion always is; has such a feeling of prejudice been engendered or located in the minds of the jury as to prevent a [defendant] from having a fair trial?" *Id.*, quoting *Slattery v. City of Seattle*, 169 Wash. 144, 148, 13 P.2d 464 (1932). Where defense counsel objected to a prosecutor's remarks at trial, the trial court's rulings are reviewed for abuse of discretion. *State v. Gregory*, 158 Wn.2d 759, 809, 147 P.3d 1201 (2006).

Here, the State argued, in part:

Doing justice in a particular case, in a criminal case, means doing the right thing for the right reasons. It means reaching a proper verdict based on the evidence and the law and nothing else, and I say those last words because there are times in trials when there are witnesses who are called whose sole purpose is to distract you, to confuse you, to make you worry, and to make you hesitant about reaching a verdict. Geoffrey Loftus is a perfect example of one of those individuals, one of those kind of witnesses, because Geoffrey Loftus's entire testimony was designed to make

you think that it's impossible for any eyewitness to ever accurately identify –

10 RP 1271-1272. The defendant objected that this "mischaracterizes the evidence." 10 RP 1272. The court responded: "It's closing argument. It's up to the jury to determine what Geoffrey Loftus's testimony was." *Id.* On appeal, the defendant extends the basis of his objection to disparaging the defense. App. Br. at 39-41.

Here, the prosecutor was arguing the credibility of the defendant's expert, Dr. Loftus, not disparaging the defendant. Arguing the credibility of witnesses is a fundamental aspect of closing argument in almost every trial. There is no question that prosecutors (and defense attorneys) have wide latitude to argue reasonable inferences from the facts concerning witness credibility. *State v. Stenson*, 132 Wn.2d 668, 727, 940 P. 2d 1239 (1997). Expert witnesses are certainly no exception.

The defense called Dr. Loftus to raise doubt; to tell the jurors that eyewitnesses were mistaken and their memories unreliable. Dr. Loftus' testimony could cause a juror to wonder about knowing or remembering events correctly. The prosecutor was arguing against this effect or conclusion.

The argument to "do the right thing for the right reason" is not improper. The State is referring to conviction, based upon the evidence.

The defense could make the same "do the right thing for the right reason" argument, referring to acquittal in a close or difficult case.

This part of the argument does not misstate the law; but even so, a prosecutor's misstatement of the law in closing argument does not warrant a new trial where the jury was properly instructed. *State v. Classen*, 143 Wn. App. 45, 64-65 n. 13, 176 P.3d 582 (2008). Here, the jury was correctly instructed regarding reasonable doubt and the burden of proof. Instruction 2; CP 492. The jury was further correctly instructed that it was the sole judge of the credibility of witnesses in general (Instruction 1, CP 490), and of the experts in particular. Instruction 6, CP 496. The court correctly instructed the jury that they were free to reject the expert opinions. *Id*. The prosecutor was obviously encouraging the jury to reject Dr. Loftus' opinions.

b. <u>Arguments to which the defendant failed to object.</u>

If the defendant did not object to the State's closing argument at trial, the defendant is deemed to have waived any error, unless the prosecutor's misconduct was so flagrant and ill intentioned that an instruction could not have cured the resulting prejudice. *State v. Emery*, 174 Wn. 2d 741, 760-761, 278 P. 3d 653 (2012). If the defendant failed to object, he must show that (1) "no curative instruction would have obviated

any prejudicial effect on the jury" and (2) the misconduct resulted in prejudice that "had a substantial likelihood of affecting the jury verdict." *Id.*, at 761, citing *State v. Thorgerson*, 172 Wn.2d 438, 455, 258 P.3d 43 (2011).

The defendant argues on appeal that the prosecutor misstated the law when he argued that the jury should be "mindful of Claudia McCorvey, Lavern Simpkins, Marquise McCorvey, and the others who have been affected by this case." App. Br. at 38, 10 RP 1271. The defendant failed to object to this argument at trial. For the first time on appeal, the defendant also criticizes the prosecutor for arguing that "23 years is a very long time to wait for some final justice to come in this case; but it is almost here." App. Br. at 41, 10 RP 1271.

Prosecutorial misconduct can arise when the State refers to evidence outside the record or makes bald appeals to passion or prejudice. *See, e.g., State v. Fisher*, 165 Wn.2d 727, 747, 202 P.3d 937 (2009). But, in closing argument, the prosecutor has wide latitude in making arguments to the jury and drawing reasonable inferences from admitted evidence. *State v. Gregory*, 158 Wn.2d 759, 860, 147 P.3d 1201 (2006). The prosecutor's improper statements are prejudicial only where there is a substantial likelihood that the misconduct affected the jury's verdict. *State v. Yates*, 161 Wn.2d 714, 774, 168 P.3d 359 (2007).

The above remarks of the prosecuting attorney essentially ask the jury to do justice. These remarks are not inflammatory, nor do they appeal to prejudice and passion. *Cf*, *State v. Belgarde*, 110 Wn.2d 504, 507–08, 755 P.2d 174 (1988). At most, they misstate the law. Somewhat similar remarks were made in *State v. Pierce*, 169 Wn. App. 533, 280 P.3d 1158 (2012), where the prosecutor argued that he brought the case "on behalf of" the victims. *Id.*, at 558. The Court of Appeals found that this was not an appeal to passion and prejudice, but an improper statement of the law and curable by jury instruction. *Id*.

As a possible appeal to the jury's emotion and sympathy, these arguments were cured by the court's instructions. The trial court instructed the jury that it must remain fair. As pointed out above, in the preliminary instruction, before any evidence was heard, the court instructed the jury:

You are officers of the court, and you must act judiciously with an earnest desire to determine and declare a proper verdict. Throughout the trial, you should be impartial and permit neither sympathy nor prejudice to influence you.

2 RP 186. At the end of the trial after receiving all the evidence, the court further instructed the jury:

As jurors, you are officers of this court. You must not let your emotions overcome your rational thought process. You must reach your decision based on the facts proved to you and on the law given to you, not on sympathy, prejudice, or personal preference. To assure that all parties

receive a fair trial, you must act impartially with an earnest desire to reach a proper verdict.

Instruction 1; CP 491. It must be presumed that the jury followed the instructions given. *See State v. Warren*, 165 Wn.2d 17, 28, 195 P.3d 940 (2008).

Also for the first time on appeal, the defendant objects to part of the State's argument regarding reasonable doubt:

A reasonable doubt arising from the lack of evidence is the question of: Do you have enough? Again, there will always be more. Do you wish you had more? Do you wish you had DNA evidence? Do you wish you had shoe prints? Do you wish you had the gun and the ballistics that tie it to it? I mean, all of these things are stuff that you could have that you don't have; and I'm going to suggest to you that the law doesn't let you think about those things when you decide if the case was proved beyond a reasonable doubt. What you look at is: Is the evidence that was actually presented enough?

10 RP 1297. The defendant now says that this somehow misstates the concept of "beyond a reasonable doubt." App. Br. at 38-39. This portion of the argument is correct, and even more so in context of the entire reasonable doubt argument, which begins two pages earlier at 10 RP 1296.

The prosecutor points out Instruction 2, which he displays on a screen or board. 10 RP 1296. He accurately argues:

What it does not say is beyond any doubt to a hundred percent certainty, beyond all doubt, or beyond a shadow of a doubt. The burden of proof is beyond a reasonable doubt because there is no such thing as a perfect trial.

Id. He goes on to correctly point out that reasonable doubt may arise from the evidence or lack of evidence. 10 RP 1296-1297. He then gives examples of doubts that could arise from evidence. *Id.*

The portion that the defendant now objects to also excludes what the prosecutor argued next:

Again, there will always be more. Do you wish you had more? Do you wish you had DNA evidence? Do you wish you had shoe prints? Do you wish you had the gun and the ballistics that tie it to it? I mean, all of these things are stuff that you could have that you don't have; and I'm going to suggest to you that the law doesn't let you think about those things when you decide if the case was proved beyond a reasonable doubt. What you look at is: Is the evidence that was actually presented enough? That's just the list I came up with in a couple minutes. Where's the gun? Where's the fifth bullet? Where's -- who got shot first? What order were the shots fired? Where's the other guy who was there? We heard the name Tab, and we heard the name -- we heard the name Tab and the name Furnace during the course of this trial. Where's Nicole? All those are questions. You know what? They're all legitimate questions. They're all legitimate questions. They are not reasonable doubt.

Beyond a reasonable doubt isn't a common phrase that you say every day. It's a serious decision you reach only after considering all of the evidence. The presumption of innocence continues even now as we sit here during closing argument. Beyond a reasonable doubt is a level of certainty that comes from knowing that you made the right decision. The instruction that defines beyond a reasonable doubt talks about abiding belief. If you have an abiding belief in the truth of the charge, then you're satisfied; and what that means is: The day after your verdict when you go home, and your family and friends say, hey, is that trial over, and you say, yep, it is, what did you guys do, we found him guilty, was that the right decision, yes, it was,

that's an abiding belief; and two years later when you get your next jury summons, and you think back to the case that you sat on in 2014, and you think to yourselves, we made the right decision, and we found Larry Tarrer guilty of all those charges, that's an abiding belief.

10 RP 1298-1299. Here the prosecutor frankly acknowledges the reality of every trial; that there are always details that the jury, or any fact-finder, will wonder about. He is doing what all criminal trial attorneys do; arguing the quantum of evidence to convict compared with lack of evidence. He argues that the evidence the jury heard is enough to convict and the missing details he mentioned were unnecessary where the evidence, including Claudia McCorvey, Rickey Owens, Bishop Johns, and the defendant's fingerprints, all placed the defendant at the scene.

McCorvey and Owens identified the defendant as the person with the gun; and McCorvey identified him as the person who shot her and Lavern Simpkins. This is a proper argument, it is not misconduct.

Ever since *Brinegar v. United States*, 338 U.S. 160, 174, 69 S. Ct. 1302, 1310, 93 L. Ed. 1879 (1949) and *In re Winship*, 397 U.S. 358, 90 S. Ct. 1068, 25 L. Ed. 2d 368 (1970), criminal attorneys have been arguing the meaning of "reasonable doubt." Since even before that time, they have been arguing the strength and sufficiency of the evidence. That is what the parties did in the present case.

The defendant fails to show that, if the prosecuting attorney misstated the law, that the arguments were flagrant, ill-intentioned, and incurable by instruction. The court had correctly instructed the jury regarding all the issues raised regarding the prosecutor's argument. Trial counsel could have objected, if he thought the point was crucial, and requested the court to emphasize or remind the jury of the instructions given. Any improper argument here was minor and curable by an instruction. *See Warrren*, 165 Wn.2d at 28. The defendant has waived appellate objection to remarks he failed to object to at trial.

6. THE DEFENDANT FAILS TO DEMONSTRATE DEFICIENCY OF COUNSEL AND RESULTING PREJUDICE.

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